"An investigation of the experiences of culturally diverse employees in an Irish Civil Service organisation"

Fauve Kenny

MA in Human Resource Management National College of Ireland May 2023

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Fauve Kenny

Student Number: 22132376

Degree for which thesis is submitted: MA Human Resource Management

Title of Thesis: An Investigation of the experiences of culturally diverse

employees in an Irish Civil Service organisation

Date: 08/05/2023

Material submitted for award

A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself. ✓

- B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged. ✓
- C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository NORMA. ✓
- D. I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award. ✓

Fawe Kenny 08/05/2023

Abstract

The purpose of this study is to examine cultural diversity within a Civil Service context, exploring the experiences of employees from diverse cultural backgrounds with diversity and inclusion (D&I). This will allow for a better understanding of whether central Civil Service policies and strategies on D&I are being effectively implemented at organisation level. The research was conducted in a Civil Service Department with over 600 employees based in Dublin. This organisation has recently progressed their D&I function through the establishment of a dedicated working group who organise events and initiatives to raise awareness of diversity in the organisation.

Through the review of relevant research, this study discovered that previous studies present diversity as both positive and negative for an organisation, and it is argued that diversity management is key in an organisation for the benefits of diversity to be seen. In the literature to date, quantitative research dominates but this study adopts a qualitative method through five semi-structured interviews to dig deeper into the experiences of the individual.

This study found that D&I initiatives are having a positive impact on culturally diverse employees, as they view diversity as beneficial and have responded well to inclusion initiatives. However, experiences of this within the wider Civil Service vary as some individuals discuss more negative experiences in other organisations. While the research indicates that central policies and strategies are being implemented successfully in this case, it is limited to the diversity group and organisation of this study alone. Further research is recommended on other diversity groups and organisations to gain a more thorough understanding of D&I across Civil Service organisations.

Acknowledgment

I would like to thank the staff and lecturers at National College of Ireland for their continuous support throughout both the Postgraduate Diploma and MA year. In particular, I thank my supervisor David Mothersill, for his guidance, advice and for being so responsive and helpful throughout the dissertation process.

To my fellow "Underdogs" Marta, Alex and Marian, I would not have gotten through the Postgraduate Diploma without you all and am so grateful that we sat together on that first day.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to my colleagues. To those who participated in the study and took the time to share their experiences, I am so thankful as I know how busy you are and valued your insights so much. To Siobhán and Adiam, thank you for being so accommodating to me this year. Regardless of how busy our team was, there was always support available to me, whether it be in the form of time off or insights and assistance on the dissertation topic.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to thank those closest to me for inspiring me to push myself to the next level. I could not have reached this point without the support of my family, friends, and partner Wayne, and I am very grateful to each and every one of you.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Acknowledgment	4
1. Introduction	7
1.1 Research Aims and Objectives	8
1.2 Significance of the study	9
1.3 Outline of the study	9
2. Literature Review	10
2.1.2 What is Culture?	11
2.1.3 Cultural Diversity in Ireland and the Civil Service	12
2.1.4 Cultural diversity in organisations	13
2.2 Diversity Management	14
2.3 Diversity and Inclusion and the Employee	17
2.3.1 Wellbeing and Inclusion	17
2.4 Literature Gap	18
3 Research Aim	21
3.1 Research Objectives	21
3.3 Research Questions	21
4. Methodology	23
4.1 Research methodology	23
4.1.1 Research Paradigms	24
4.2 Data Collection	25
4.2.3 Interview Process	27
4.3 Research Ethics	27
4.6 Conclusion	30
5. Research Findings	31
5.1 Findings and Analysis	32
5.1.1 Culture as a socially constructed phenomenon	32
5.1.2 The link between diversity and creativity and innovation	33
5.1.3 The importance of senior leadership buy in for an inclusive workplace	
5.1.5 Negative perceptions of the recruitment process for culturally diverse applicants	
6. Discussion	
7. Conclusion	
7.2 Recommendations for Future Research	47
Appendix A: Information Sheet	
Appendix B: Consent Form	61

1. Introduction

The purpose of this study is to examine cultural diversity within a Civil Service context, exploring the experiences of employees from diverse cultural backgrounds with diversity and inclusion (D&I). The research will be conducted in a Civil Service department, which will remain unnamed in this study for the purpose of anonymity. The organisation has over 600 employees in one base in Dublin and has set up a D&I working group within the last two years. This section will provide a background to the study, present the research question, and set out an overview of the chapters which follow.

In the past two decades, Ireland has become increasingly multicultural due to globalisation. Census data in 2016 indicated that there were over half a million non-Irish Nationals living in Ireland in 2016 (CSO, 2023). Estimated data from the 2022 Census indicates that this figure has now risen to over 700,000 (CSO, 2023). On the back of such diversification of the population, a stronger legislative, business, and moral case now exists for building inclusive and fair workplaces which allow all employees an equal opportunity to develop to their full potential (CIPD, 2021).

The early decades of the 21st century saw a shift towards anti-discrimination and equal opportunity legislation which followed on from the second half of the 20th century. An increasing number of countries all over the world developed legislation which provided greater protection from workplace harassment and discrimination (Mor Barak, 2022). The Irish Employment Equality Acts (1998-2015) aim to promote equality, ban harassment and victimisation, ensure those with disabilities have the facilities to gain equal access to employment, and ensure equality across the nine grounds (IHREC, 2023). The nine grounds are as follows: gender, civil status, family status, sexual orientation, religious orientation, age, disability, race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origins and membership of the traveller community (WRC, 2023). Civil Service organisations face further obligations under the Irish Human Rights and Equality Act. All public bodies in Ireland are required by Section 42 of this act to promote diversity and inclusion among both employees and those who use their service (IHREC, 2023).

The Irish Civil Service, while bound by the discussed legal obligations, have also incorporated D&I into both staff policies and strategic plans, understanding the importance of both recognising and valuing a workforce that is representative of the population that it serves

(PAS, 2021). In 2002, the Irish Civil Service, through the Department of Finance, published their Equality of Opportunity Policy. This set out to assert the Civil Service commitment to equality of opportunity across all employment practices and to fulfil their obligations under equality legislation. Despite this policy being developed centrally, it states that responsibility for its implementation lies with each individual Department (DOF, 2002) The Public Appointments Service (PAS), the central recruitment body for the Civil Service, published an Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (EDI) strategy for the Civil Service in 2021. Within this, it is recognised that a focus on D&I is important, particularly with the growing diversification of the population in Ireland, and that an inclusive workplace culture is key in attracting and retaining talent and driving business and team performance (PAS, 2021). In order to achieve some of the goals set out in this strategy, it was recognised that developing data on the diversity profile of those entering the Civil Service was key. PAS published an Equality Monitoring Data Review in 2023 which provided diversity statistics at both application and assignment stage of recruitment. This review indicated that, despite key efforts to improve this, diversity in the Civil Service is not aligned with that in the wider population (PAS, 2023).

1.1 Research Aims and Objectives

This study aims to explore the previous policy and strategy in practice through the experience of individuals from diverse cultural backgrounds working in a single Civil Service organisation. As both the Equality of Opportunity Policy and the EDI Strategy were developed centrally for the entire Civil Service, this study is interested in examining their impact and how well they are being implemented within an individual organisation from the perspective of employees from diverse cultural backgrounds. While much of the focus of D&I is usually through the context of the organisation, this research will focus on the individual, exploring their experiences of D&I in the workplace. It aims to understand their perception of D&I in their organisation, investigating their experience from recruitment to present.

This study has several objectives which will be explored through five semi-structured interviews:

1. To understand the meaning of cultural diversity in the workplace

- 2. To identify the associated benefits and challenges of diversity
- 3. To assess the organisation's performance in the area of D&I through the perception of diverse employees
- 4. To establish the relationship between inclusion initiatives and employee wellbeing
- 5. To explore the experience of culturally diverse employees with Civil Service recruitment

1.2 Significance of the study

With the growing diversification of the Irish population, it is key to understand how the modern organisation can adapt to ensure that their workforce is reflective of the population it represents and fosters a culture of inclusion. As the organisation in this study has recently established a dedicated working group to improve D&I, it is valuable to evaluate how the initiatives arising from this are perceived by employees from culturally diverse backgrounds. Success of such initiatives is usually defined by improved business performance, but this study will alternatively place value on the experience of the individual, including their wellbeing and sense of belonging in the workplace.

1.3 Outline of the study

This study will begin with a comprehensive review of the related literature, identifying key topics which will be addressed throughout the research. The research aims and objectives will emerge from this, followed by a discussion of the methodological approach which will be taken to both collect and analyse the data. The findings and analysis will be both presented and discussed, while relating back to the literature on the topic to date. Finally, the study will form a conclusion, with limitations and recommendations discussed.

2. Literature Review

The purpose of this section is to review and evaluate the relevant literature to this study, assessing the previous findings on the topic. This study sets out to explore the experiences of culturally diverse employees in the Civil Service and aims to gain an understanding of their perception and experiences of D&I both in their organisation and the wider Civil Service. Therefore, this chapter will explore literature which will set the foundation for the research. It will focus on providing a comparative analysis of different studies, discussing multiple perspectives to gain a broad understanding of diversity and its many related topics. Beginning with diversity, this section will progress through cultural diversity, exploring both the context in Ireland and in organisations, analysing the various positions on whether diversity is positive or negative for an organisation. From here, diversity management with a focus on inclusion initiatives will be discussed, examining both the positive associations that inclusion can have and the various issues which may be presented in its absence. Finally, D&I will be examined through the lens of the individual, exploring the effect inclusion has on wellbeing and the employee's sense of belonging.

2.1 Cultural Diversity

2.1.1 What is Diversity?

The term diversity has changeable definitions, never fully acquiring a precise meaning throughout decades of literature and varying from author to author and place to place. Simply put, diversity refers to differences in a person's gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, race, religious or political beliefs, physical abilities, or socio-economic status (Volckman, 2012). It involves being a part of a group that is different from what is considered to be "mainstream" in society (Mor Barak, 2022). Fleury (1999) echoes this by defining diversity as a mix of individuals with different group identities within the same social system. While this study will examine diversity primarily in a workplace context, the term was originally used in relation to natural systems and only became widely used regarding workplaces in the 1980s and 1990s in research conducted in the US (Kramer, 2012). In the workplace context, diversity involves awareness of the benefit of having a range of perspectives in decision-making (CIPD 2021). It is a context where all employees are valued and respected for what makes them different from other colleagues (Pilbeam and

Corbridge, 2010).

As the many definitions of diversity are well reported across the literature, the multiple types of diversity are also commonly considered. Mor Barak (2022) distinguishes between visible and invisible types of diversity. Visible refers to diversity attributes which are easily detectable or observable, such as race, physical disability, or gender. Invisible diversity refers to underlying and undetectable attributes such as tenure in the organisation, religion, or education. Jackson and Joshi (2011) further explore the dimensions of diversity, differentiating between relations-oriented and task-related diversity. Relations-oriented refers to diversity characteristics which are key to shaping interpersonal relationships but do not impact on the ability to perform a task, e.g., age and gender. Task-oriented refers to attributes which potentially impact on work performance, e.g., workplace tenure and education. Pelled (1996) simplifies this distinction and defines diversity variables based on two properties: visibility and job-relatedness. Age, gender, and race are deemed high in visibility but low in job relatedness, as they do not reflect skills and task perspectives as directly as education and workplace tenure, which are considered low in visibility and high in job-relatedness.

2.1.2 What is Culture?

The focus of this research is on the cultural aspect of diversity, but culture is a multi-dimensional term. Culture can be defined as a collective phenomenon which distinguishes members of one category of people from another. It is learned, and not obtained from genetics but rather one's social environment (Hofstede, 1991). According to Hofstede, this involves patterns of thinking which have become learned, which he calls mental programmes. This programming of the mind is determined by one's social environment and life experiences, starting with the family, school, youth groups etc. He refers to such mental programmes as culture (Hofstede, 1991).

According to Trompenaar and Hampden-Turner (2022), culture presents itself on different levels. National or regional culture is perceived to be on the highest level, followed by organisational culture and finally the culture of individual functions within an organisation, for example personnel. Distinguishing between culture inside and outside of a working environment is important, as culture outside of the organisation relates to social norms in a group obtained by life experience (Hofstede, 1991), whereas within an organisation, culture

is more concerned with overall company values or the expectation of its employees (Maran and Soro, 2010).

2.1.3 Cultural Diversity in Ireland and the Civil Service

As the world market has become increasingly integrated as a result of globalisation, Ireland has experienced substantial demographic changes in recent decades, particularly around population diversity. While previously known as a country of emigration, economic prosperity has recently seen rapid immigration leading to a corresponding increase in ethnic and national diversity (McGinnity et al, 2017). It is estimated that in 2022, there were 703,700 non-Irish nationals, i.e., those born outside of Ireland, living in Ireland, which amounts to 13.8% of the resident population (CSO, 2022). When speaking of cultural diversity, ethnicity should be considered alongside nationality. Ethnicity is usually selfdefined by an individual and is concerned with classing groups of people based on their common cultural origin or background (Blakemore, 2019). The 2006 Census was first to capture data on ethnicity, allowing for statistics on those born in Ireland but who are from ethnic minority groups, including Irish travellers (McGinnity et al, 2021). In the Irish Civil Service, PAS have begun to monitor data on diversity at both application and assessment stage of recruitment. An Equality Monitoring Data Review was published in March 2023 and provides useful data on multiple aspects of diversity in the Civil Service (PAS, 2023). Key to this study, cultural diversity is examined, and some interesting statistics are presented around ethnicity of those who apply for the Civil Service and those who are appointed into positions. It was revealed that individuals who present as White Irish are overrepresented in the application stage, comprising 88% of all applications. Black or Black Irish applications (1.3%) were similarly aligned with the representation of this group in the population (1.4%). In contrast, those from White Irish Traveller, Asian or Asian Irish, and White Other are generally underrepresented when compared to the ratio of submitted applications. At assignment stage, the representation of ethnicities was similar to that at application stage. 89% of assignments were given to White Irish individuals, and just 1.3% allocation to Black or Black Irish applicants (PAS, 2023). This study highlights how White Irish individuals are overrepresented both in applications and assignments to the Irish Civil Service.

2.1.4 Cultural diversity in organisations

The previously discussed demographic changes can naturally lead to workplaces becoming more diverse. However, diversity is rising on the agenda of many businesses today. There is a strong business case for diversity in the modern organisation, with many researchers proving that diversity can improve team performance (Adler, 2002; Köppel et al, 2007), echoing the "value in diversity hypothesis" (McLeod at al, 1991). This hypothesis discusses diversity as a source of competitive advantage, and states that diversity, when managed effectively, produces positive organisational outcomes.

Stahl et al (2010) discusses a positive relationship between organisational diversity and creativity and innovation, with teams with higher cultural diversity proven to be more creative and innovative than those with low cultural diversity. Creativity involves the generation of ideas, whereas innovation is concerned both with idea generation and its subsequent implementation (Wang et al 2019). Bell et al (2011) attributes this to the ability of a diverse team to draw on a different range of knowledge and experience. This allows teams to analyse issues from a variety of perspectives, often coming up with creative and innovative solutions. In a study by McLeod and Lobel (1992), groups that were heterogenous regarding their ethnic background were found during a brainstorming exercise to produce higher quality ideas than groups that were more homogonous. In this study, an experimental examination took place where groups comprising all Anglo individuals were compared to groups with a cultural mix of people throughout a series of brainstorming tasks. While there was no major difference in the volume of ideas produced by both groups, there was a significant difference in the quality of the ideas. The ideas produced by the culturally diverse group were rated as more effective and more feasible to implement than the ideas produced by the other group. This result suggests that teams with increased cultural diversity can create more creative solutions to problems.

However, simply increasing the diversity in teams may not always present positive results. Cox and Blake (1991) discuss the steps which need to be taken for diversity in groups to translate into creative and innovative solutions. Team members must be aware of the differences in attitudes among individuals and made aware of the cultural differences.

Other research also discusses the disadvantages to diversity within teams, particularly when not managed effectively. One of the main drawbacks of cultural diversity can be

miscommunication, often stemming from language barriers, which can lead to misunderstanding and tension in the workplace (Velten and Lashley, 2008). Milliken and Martens (1996) concluded that diversity is a 'double-edged sword', offering both a great opportunity for organisations while also presenting a challenge. However, there is evidence to suggest that the perception of cultural diversity in organisations is improving in more recent studies. In a study by Stahl and Tung (2015) an analysis of 255 papers revealed that there was a 17:1 ratio of studies with negative assumptions of cultural diversity versus papers with more positive assumptions. They also found that the date of publication had an impact on this, with newer articles likely to have fewer negative assumptions than older articles. 86% of articles published between 1989 and 1996 were found to have negative assumptions about cultural differences, as opposed to just 57% between 2005 and 2012.

Discussions of the advantages and disadvantages of diversity are ripe with references to the importance of effective diversity management, highlighting the critical role that diversity and inclusion initiatives can play in the modern organisation.

2.2 Diversity Management

Diversity, when mismanaged, can negatively impact an organisation's success. When managed well, it provides benefits which can improve performance (Gardenswarz and Rowe, 2003). This alone sets out a compelling case for diversity management in the workplace. Diversity management refers to the obligation of an organisation to recruit, select, promote, and retain a diverse mix of employees while valuing their unique attributes (Samuel and Odor, 2018). Central to diversity management is inclusion, which involves valuing differences by creating an inclusive working environment where everybody can thrive and work together effectively (CIPD, 2021). Mor Barak et. al (2016) conducted an analysis of 30 studies over 2 decades which strongly indicates that diversity management which promotes inclusion is consistently associated with positive results. Benefits were found to include improved organisational commitment, job satisfaction and access to a more diverse customer base. Findings of this study also suggest that organisations need to focus not only on diversifying their workforce but also developing both policies and practices which harness a climate of inclusion.

Diversity management practices which primarily aim to diversify the workforce are usually related to the recruitment process. This involves recruiting the candidate which is the best

fit for the role, however, it is not always clear which candidate is the most suitable and often bias is present during the process (CIPD, 2022). There are many actions organisations can take to reduce the risk of bias while recruiting and diversify their workforce through this process. For example, research has shown that depicting racial diversity in photographs for job advertisements and having a diverse recruitment team are ways that can attract candidates from minority groups to apply for a role (McKay and Avery, 2005). One of the most prominent barriers to diversity in recruitment is unconscious bias. Unconscious bias, or implicit bias, is a negative concept whereby individuals subconsciously make associations and judgements during a decision-making process. It is not intentional or controllable, and often results in misguided decision making (Suveren, 2022). Unconscious bias training has played a central role in efforts to combat this, with organisations using the training to raise awareness of the shortcuts in the mind that can lead to judgments on people's character, often based on race or gender (Gino and Coffman, 2021). This training can come in a variety of forms, such as cooperative learning or perspective-taking exercises, but ultimately focuses on awareness of prejudice and the practice of self-regulation techniques (Kim and Roberson, 2022). However, some studies have challenged the effectiveness of unconscious bias training, with Forscher et al. (2019) finding that any positive changes to bias were often weak and only prevalent in the short term. Kalev et al. (2006) established that initiatives to challenge bias and stereotypes were not followed by increases in diversity. For unconscious bias training to be effective in the long term, it must involve a longer journey, allowing individuals to change their behaviour and monitor their progress while connecting with people with different experiences than their own (Kim and Roberson, 2022).

Diversity management throughout recruitment is critical for attracting a diverse workforce, but retention of that workforce is dependent on the inclusion initiatives set into practice by the organisation. Ensuring that everybody is treated equally, with respect and has equality of opportunity is not only the right thing to do but is key to both attracting and retaining a diverse group of employees (CIPD, 2018). To achieve this, inclusivity must be embedded in the organisation from the top down. Martins (2020) argues that the organisation's leaders must create a vision for diversity for D&I to be embedded and produce positive outcomes. He states that need to be engaged with the processes which take place to achieve this and should not delegate responsibility to areas like HR. This can be through attending D&I

events and initiatives, public support for minorities and avoiding silence and inaction, which can signal a lack of support (Martins, 2020). Bishop-Monroe et al (2010) recommend that organisations employ a designated D&I representative who works to ensure that it is integrated into the culture and core business activities. However, for inclusion to be a reality, it needs to become a priority for senior leaders in the organisation. Inclusive leadership is also key, which involves a leadership approach which looks to ensure all team members are treated equally, with respect, and are a valued member of the organisation. This is known to translate positively to both employee wellbeing and performance (Katsoras, 2022).

Another common inclusion initiative which has risen in popularity in recent years is diversity training. Diversity training is directed towards employees and is usually linked to specific organisational goals or training needs, typically involving awareness, knowledge, and skills of various aspects of diversity (Alhejji and Garavan, 2013). Lai and Kleiner (2001) argue that, for diversity training to be effective, organisations must have clear policies, procedures, and strategies in place around diversity. Consulting external training providers is also advised, in the absence of an internal subject matter expert. Thirdly, a system should also be established to evaluate how effective the training was (Lai and Kleiner, 2001). However, despite widespread use of diversity training, questions about its effectiveness remain. Like unconscious bias training, diversity training primarily observes improvements in the short term, and lacks long term effectiveness. It also focuses on individual learning outcomes, neglecting collective and group learning (Roberson et al., 2013).

As well as undertaking various initiatives which promote D&I, an organisation should establish a clear and guided approach to how they manage diversity. Thomas and Ely (1996) discuss the existing diversity approaches; assimilation involves the approach that everybody is the same and encourages uniform behaviour, whereas differentiation celebrates difference and encourages staff to be themselves. They recommend transcending both paradigms and instead focusing on integration, which blends the positives of both assimilation and differentiation by promoting equal opportunities while valuing differences in culture.

There is a strong business case for such actions and initiatives, with McKinsey reporting that diverse businesses are more likely than ever to perform better in profitability than their less diverse peers (2020). However, there is also an undeniable moral case, where fostering a

culture of inclusion is simply the right thing to do for the employees in an organisation. The next section of this review will shift to a more introspective focus of D&I, examining the relationship between D&I and the individual.

2.3 Diversity and Inclusion and the Employee

There is a danger in developing D&I programmes primarily because it makes business sense to do so. This unwillingly makes D&I co-dependent on business goals and limits the ethical elements which should be considered (Mor Barak, 2022). Much of the research to date examines D&I from the perspective of the impact on organisational performance, with fewer studies examining the relationship between a diverse and inclusive workforce and employee wellbeing. However, there is evidence to suggest a link between the two.

While there is no agreed single definition of wellbeing, most definitions agree that it

2.3.1 Wellbeing and Inclusion

involves some aspect of feeling good and functioning well. Many definitions use health and wellbeing interchangeably, with the World Health Organisation defining health as "a state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing and not merely the absence of disease of infirmity" (WHO, 2022). For the purpose of this study, wellbeing is defined as a person's positive physical, mental, and social state (Robertson and Cooper, 2010). A person's wellbeing has multiple dimensions, such as physical, social, psychological, emotional, and occupational. Since people spend a large percentage of time at work, workplace wellbeing is central to overall wellbeing (Haile, 2012). Mor Barak et al (2016), in their analysis of 30 qualified studies, found that employee experience of inclusion can improve their wellbeing at work through improved job satisfaction and organisational commitment. According to Abu Bakar et al. (2018), ethical behaviour among colleagues also has a crucial effect on employee wellbeing. Similarly, they discuss how the workplace has multiple factors which could impact on wellbeing, including unethical behaviour and discrimination. This has been demonstrated in various studies where a connection between diversity and wellbeing is established in individuals from multiple diverse backgrounds. Meyer (2003) conducted a study which demonstrated the prevalence of mental health issues in LGBTQ individuals. This was owed to stress processes such as expectation of rejection, prejudice and homophobia which was directly related to their sexuality. Similarly, in a study conducted among LGBTQ Australian people, it was found that there is significant

difference in workplace wellbeing among different employee groups (Donaghy and Perales, 2022). Triana et al. (2010) highlighted how the commitment of employees from minority backgrounds were negatively affected by perceptions of ethnic dissimilarities. Why is this the case? One theory which explains this well is the social categorisation theory, which explains that people naturally categorise those similar to them as "us" and those dissimilar as "them" (Jaiswal and Dyaram, 2018). This creates an in/out group and those in the in-group are considered trustworthy and dependable, compared to those in the outgroup (Williams and O'Reilly, 1998). Prejudices and stereotypes can emerge, leading to decreased communication and cohesion among employees, thus lowering individual's feelings of inclusion, acceptance and ultimately, wellbeing (Jaisel and Dyaram, 2018). In this sense, inclusion is dependent on whether people feel that they have a place in a group (belonging) while being themselves and sharing their whole identity (CIPD, 2019). Belonging is a term which refers to a person's perception of the level of acceptance or support they receive from others (Keene, 2023). It has also been defined as forming and maintaining interpersonal relationships that are both strong and stable in nature (Shore et al. 2011). Throughout past research, inclusion and belonging have often been grouped together, but there are clear distinctions between both terms. Slepian (2020) distinguishes between negative connotations of belonging and inclusion, with reduced belonging associated with feelings of inauthenticity and exclusion connected with negative feelings such as sadness and anger. What is key for organisations now is that individuals feel that they belong, without having to conform (CIPD, 2021).

2.4 Literature Gap

Having undertaken a broad investigation into literature on cultural diversity and related topics for this study, it is evident that there are few studies on the topic which conduct a qualitative research method. Stahl et al (2015) examined 136 papers on culture in their study and found that of these 136, only 2 were qualitative in nature. They recommend that qualitative become a more widely used approach in future research to gain a fuller understanding of cross-cultural dynamics. Birkenshaw et al (2011) echo this position and argue that qualitative research can take us further in our understanding of complex cultural phenomena and provide a deeper understanding of the individual which has been previously eluded by organisational process scholars. Through a qualitative study where 19

semi-structured interviews were conducted, Granow and Asbrook (2021) succeeded in analysing the positive impact of cultural diversity within a team setting. It is clear that, despite the dominance of quantitative research in this field, that there is a growing need for further qualitative studies to be conducted to delve deeper into the insights and perspectives of the individual in relation to cultural diversity.

Also, the researcher found no studies of this nature conducted within the context of the Irish Civil Service. Given the recent publication of the Civil Service EDI Strategy, this research will hopefully work towards evaluating the effect of this strategy on both an individual organisation within the Civil Service and the individual's from diverse backgrounds which the strategy seeks to protect.

2.5 Conclusion

It is clear from this review that, while cultural diversity is a commonly discussed topic across the literature, there are a lot of contrasting opinions on its definition, characteristics, and benefits. Some authors advocate a strong business case for diversity in an organisation (e.g., Adler, 2002; Köppel et al, 2007, McLeod at al, 1991), whereas others are less convinced and highlight the issues which may present in diverse teams (e.g., Velten and Lashley, 2008). Whether diversity is positive, negative, or a 'double-edged sword' (Milliken and Martens, 1996), it is evident that managing diversity is crucial for every organisation as Ireland's cultural landscape evolves. However, there are both opportunities and challenges with the inclusion initiatives discussed, with different approaches to diversity training proving to be effective only in the short term. Regardless of the initiatives implemented, a successful D&I approach must be embedded into the culture of an organisation and implemented through inclusive leadership (Katsoras, 2022).

Through much of the literature, D&I was explored through the lens of the organisation, with most studies examining advantages and disadvantages from a business perspective. The final part of this review approached D&I from the perspective of the individual, discussing the moral case for inclusion alongside the benefit of inclusion initiatives on a person's wellbeing and the negative impact that the absence of such initiatives in an organisation can have on employees.

This review has succeeded in identifying a literature gap within this topic, highlighting that there are both few qualitative studies and few set within the context of the Irish Civil Service

This establishes the foundation for the next stage of this study. While D&I in the organisational context will play a part, the research will ultimately centre around the experience of the individual.

3 Research Aim

To explore the experiences of culturally diverse employees in a Civil Service organisation.

This aim of this study is to qualitatively explore the workplace experiences of culturally diverse employees in a Civil Service department. This will allow for an understanding of whether central policies and strategies on D&I are being effectively implemented at organisation level. There is a lack of research in this area so far, and studies of this nature would allow for evaluation of such policies and strategies to identify the need for any future changes and improvements. The research will be divided into a series of objectives and questions which have developed from the review of previous literature on the subject.

3.1 Research Objectives

The objectives of this study are gain a further understanding of some of the key topics in past literature on cultural diversity in the workplace in relation to the chosen Civil Service organisation. They are broken down as follows:

RO1: To understand the meaning of cultural diversity in the workplace

RO2: To identify the associated benefits and challenges of diversity

RO3: To assess the organisation's performance in the area of D&I through the perception of diverse employees

RO4: To establish the relationship between inclusion initiatives and employee wellbeing

RO5: To explore the experience of culturally diverse employees with Civil Service recruitment

3.3 Research Questions

To deliver on the previous set out research objectives, a series of research questions have been developed which the researcher will aim to answer throughout the interviews conducted:

- 1. What does the term cultural diversity mean to the employees interviewed?
- 2. Do the employees interviewed believe diversity is positive or negative for an organisation overall?
- 3. Are there any ways in which the D&I function could be improved within this organisation?

- 4. What is the relationship between inclusion initiatives and the wellbeing of culturally diverse employees?
- 5. Are there ways which the Civil Service recruitment process could be improved to support employees from culturally diverse backgrounds?

4. Methodology

This section sets out to establish how the previous research aims, objectives and questions will be answered. It will provide an in-depth discussion of the foundations of research, including the chosen research methods, data collection and analysis methods and the logic for applying them to this study. Ethical considerations and limitations of the research are also set out below, followed by a discussion of the data analysis process.

4.1 Research methodology

Research refers to the process of seeking the answer to questions that have not yet been answered. It involves finding a solution to a problem through collecting, analysing and interpreting data (Singh, 2006). Saunders et al (2019) argue that this process must be undertaken in a systematic way, with a clear purpose, followed by interpretation of the data, to be considered research.

Within research, two methodology approaches are mostly used. Qualitative research involves the use of unstructured data to gain insights into the behaviours of both individuals and organisations (Turner at al, 2021). Barnham (2015) states that qualitative research is used to gain an in-depth understanding of individual's perceptions, motivations, and behaviours. In contrast, quantitative research is concerned with structured data that can be measured and represented numerically (Goertzen, 2017). Findings from quantitative research are useful for uncovering trends and behaviours, but do not deliver any insight on the motivation behind these observed behaviours. Qualitative studies are useful for filling in these gaps (Goertzen, 2017).

While many relevant studies on D&I have used quantitative methodology (Donaghy and Perales, 2022., Jaiswal and Dyram, 2019), these are conducted with large sample sizes, with the former study completed by over 33,000 individuals. They are also primarily concerned with measuring performance and impact of D&I initiatives, and not delving deeper into everyone's experience. As discussed in the previous chapter, there is significantly fewer studies on cultural diversity conducted using qualitative research, and ample benefits for selecting this type of research. As this study will be limited to culturally diverse employees within a Civil Service organisation, it will be naturally conducted among a small group. A qualitative method will allow for more in-depth knowledge to be received from a fewer

number of respondents, gaining valuable perspectives and individual experiences for analysis.

4.1.1 Research Paradigms

A paradigm is a way of thinking about the world involving a basic set of beliefs which must be accepted as they cannot be proven (Guba and Lincoln, 1994). Killam (2013) presents an analogy which likens a research paradigm to the lens on a pair of glasses. For example, looking through a red lens would cause you to see the world as red, therefore the paradigm chosen changes how we view the world and ultimately shapes the research.

To select the most appropriate research paradigm for the study, it was first important to understand the three pillars; Ontology is concerned with reality, and researchers must adopt a position on what their perception is of how things really are (Scotland, 2012). Epistemology is more concerned with facts and constitutes what is considered to be acceptable knowledge in a particular field (Saunders et al, 2019). Methodology refers to the strategy or reasoning behind choosing a particular method and is concerned with how the information is found and analysed (Scotland, 2012).

Before the study began, the researcher examined the below paradigms to assess which best suited the nature of this study:

Positivism	Interpretivism
When broadly defined, positivism is the	In contrast, interpretivism essentially rules
approach of the natural sciences and is	out the natural sciences, and looks for
used widely among researchers and within	meanings and motives for people's actions
the philosophy of science. Positivist	(Chowdhury, 2014). Originating from
researchers prefer precise data and are	sociology and psychology, it assumes that
known to use quantitative research, often	social reality is shaped by both social
with surveys, statistics, and experiments	context and individual experiences (Willig,
(Neuman, 2014). The research is factual	2013). It considers the complexity of each
and descriptive, and directly explains the	individual and emphasizes that
relationship between variables (Scotland,	generalisations of patterns should not
2012).	obscure the complexity of society as a

While some researchers state that positivism views scientific knowledge as the superior form of knowledge (Moore, 2010), others believe that many researchers wish to avoid the 'positivist' label completely (Turner, 1992).

whole (Junjie and Yingxin, 2022). However, despite growth in popularity in recent times, interpretivism is commonly criticised. In particular, there is considered to be more room for bias in interpretivist research as it typically receives the influence of the personal values and beliefs of the researcher (Junjie and Yingxin, 2022).

Having considered both paradigms at length, it was clear to the researcher that an interpretivist approach through qualitative research would be best suited to explore the experiences and perspectives of the individuals in the study. To achieve this, semi-structured interviews were carried out.

4.2 Data Collection

Data collection is a systematic approach to gathering the data needed to answer a research question. When not done correctly, it may fail to answer the research question, making the selection of a data collection method one of the most important decisions for the researcher to make (Mwita, 2022). There are many methods of collecting data in qualitative research which are supported by theoretical or methodological frameworks. These can include in-depth structured, unstructured, or semi-structured interviews, group discussions, observational studies, and focus groups (Carter and Henderson, 2005).

4.2.1. Interviews

An interview in research involves a purposeful conversation between two or more people. The interviewer must establish rapport, ask clear and concise questions, and listen actively (Saunders et al, 2019). Seidman (2006) describes the purpose of interviewing as to gain an understanding of the lived experience of people and recognising that the stories of other's are of great worth. He goes on to say that interviews are not, however, an opportunity to get definite answers to questions or to test a hypothesis.

Interviews consist of three types: structured, semi-structured and unstructured. The researcher considered both structured and semi-structured interviews for this study, but

semi-structured was ultimately chosen so that the researcher can adapt the line of questioning to each individual and interview. Semi-structured interviews usually consist of a conversation between the researcher and participant, guided by a flexible interview structure which includes follow-up questions and probes. This method allows for openended data to be collected and to delve deeper into personal thoughts and feelings on a topic (Dejonckheere and Vaughn, 2019).

4.2.2 Sampling

Sampling refers to the process employed by a researcher to systematically choose a subset of individuals or items to serve as the subjects of a study. While the ideal scenario for validity would be to test everybody to which the study applies, this is often not a practical option therefore sampling techniques are usually used (Sharma, 2017). This study was conducted with individuals from diverse cultural backgrounds in a Civil Service organisation. As the data on nationality and ethnicity was not readily available to the researcher, a sampling technique was applied.

4.2.2.1 Sampling Method

Purposeful sampling is a technique widely used in qualitative research for selecting information-rich cases to gain an in-depth understanding (Patton, 2002). It involves selecting individuals or groups that have knowledge or experience within a topic of interest. Availability and willingness to participate are also key to this method (Palinkas, 2016). As this study is centred around individuals from diverse cultural backgrounds, purposeful sampling was used to gain access to interviewees from alternative ethnic or international backgrounds within the chosen organisation. As this information on employees was not readily available to the researcher, snowball sampling was used. This involves identifying potential subjects from people who have already participated in the study, often people who have similar characteristics to them (Palinkas, 2016). The researcher had knowledge of a small number of individuals from diverse cultural backgrounds, who then recommended others that they knew from similar backgrounds who could be asked to participate.

4.2.2.2 Sample Size

According to Patton (2002), the sample size of a study depends on the research question(s)

and objectives, including the resources available. He also states that the insights and understandings gained from the sample are more relation to the data collection and analysis and not the sample size. Saunders et al (2019) recommends that for semi-structured interview, the minimum sample size should be 5, and the maximum be 25. Fugard and Potts (2015) state that for small projects, 6-10 interviews should be conducted. The researcher balanced this advice with their knowledge that access to a large sample was not feasible in the chosen organisation and decided that a sample of 6-8 for this study would be suitable.

4.2.3 Interview Process

Once the data collection method was identified, it was recognised that the design of the interview and structure of questions was critical in maximising the validity of the study. Saunders et al (2019) believe that planning is key to in gaining the confidence of those being interviewed. Throughout the literature review process, common topics were identified and recorded, with emerging questions noted. To help establish the final questions, a pilot interview was arranged to test the flow of the questions and identify any confusing or triggering topics. The interviewee pointed out that a couple of the questions lacked clarity, and one or more sought to obtain duplicate information. This was resolved, and the final questions were decided. Interviews were originally arranged with six participants, but one individual decided to not participate at a late stage. Five interviews were then conducted via Microsoft Teams. Although the researcher recognised that more in-depth conversations could be had in-person, the organisation are trialling hybrid working so this was difficult to arrange.

4.3 Research Ethics

Before beginning the study, the NCI Ethical Review form was completed by the researcher and returned to NCI. The NCI research ethics guidelines were consulted and applied throughout the research process.

One of the most important ethical considerations that the researcher must be aware of is the participants right to informed consent, including their right to withdraw from the study at any time (Saunders et al, 2019). The first step was to consult with the head of Learning and Development in the chosen organisation regarding the relevant permissions that were required to interview the employees. Once the required protocols were in place, and the researcher was aware of the steps that needed to be taken, ten individuals were contacted

from the sample obtained. An information booklet was provided (Appendix A) detailing further information on the study, including the measures being taken to ensure anonymity and the protection of data throughout the process. One participant had several concerns around steps to ensure anonymity, and the researcher met with them in advance to provide further clarity. In the end, just five participants agreed to interview, and a consent form was circulated to each (Appendix B). Each interviewee was told both in the information sheet and before the interview that they had a right to withdraw consent at any stage.

After the interviews were conducted, they were transcribed and kept, alongside the consent forms, in an encrypted folder on the researcher's laptop. A backup of both was kept on an encrypted memory key also. The researcher was the only one with physical access to both, as well as the only person who knew both passwords. The name of each participant was removed, and they were categorised by number instead, to ensure anonymity.

4.4. Limitations

Any research study will inevitably have limitations, and researchers need to be aware of what they are and address them early in the research process (Theofanidis and Fountouki, 2018). Limitations represent a weakness within the design of the research which can potentially influence the outcome or conclusion of the study (Ross and Bibler Zaidi, 2019). It involves a systematic bias which is beyond the control of the researcher (Price and Murnan, 2004).

The first limitation of this study is associated with insider research. This involves conducting research in an organisation in which the researcher belongs (Hewitt-Taylor, 2013). As the researcher is also a member of the D&I working group in the chosen organisation, they were familiar with both the research topic and the organisation in question. According to McClintock et al (2003), research provides opportunities for self-development and a researcher would benefit more in this case from choosing an area that they are familiar with. Tolhurst (2002) believes that in doing so, they would have a better understanding of the issue and would save time due to prior knowledge of the topic. However, there are many challenges associated with insider research, particularly surrounding objectivity. It has been argued that the researcher can make assumptions due to their prior knowledge or experience. Similarly, familiarity with both the issue and participants can limit the analysis of

key cultural and social patterns which emerge in the study (Greene, 2014). The researcher was conscious throughout the process of remaining objective, continuously checking all work for signs of assumptions or bias.

Another key limitation was accessing enough interviewees for the study. This was partially related to the researcher's position on the D&I working group, with some individuals expressing concern over speaking openly regarding the topic with somebody who works in the area in their organisation. Also, the researcher was aware in advance that there would be problems associated with accessing interviewees, as there appeared to be a limited number of individuals from diverse cultural backgrounds in the organisation. While this made it difficult to conduct more than a small number of interviews, it was one of the reasons the organisation was chosen as the researcher was keen to select an organisation with limited cultural diversity. A potential solution considered was to conduct the study across several Civil Service organisations, but this was decided against as different organisations have different approaches to D&I.

The final limitation was the timeframe. Due to the researcher taking on the programme in a part-time capacity, time to conduct research was limited to outside of working hours. This posed issues when it came to arranging interviews, as participants were often only available throughout the working day. This delayed the interview process substantially, which meant that the time for data analysis was limited.

4.5 Data Analysis

After the data collection process, each interview was transcribed into a word document and saved in an encrypted folder. Following the initial transcription, the researcher listened to each interview two more times to ensure that the transcript was accurate, and no paraphrasing or substitutions were used. The data collected in each interview was then examined using thematic analysis, which involves identifying patterns or themes within qualitative data. The goal was to identify patterns of data and use them to address the research, interpreting and making sense of the information collected rather than merely summarising it (Maguire and Delahunt, 2017).

To conduct thematic analysis, Braun and Clarke's six step framework (2006) was used and has been deemed the most influential approach by many, offering a clear framework for

administering thematic analysis (Maguire and Delahunt, 2017). The six phases are as follows:

- 1) Familiarisation with the data: The researcher should be fully familiar with, and immerse themselves in, their data.
- **2)** Coding: This involves creating pithy labels for data that is most relevance to the research question.
- **3)** Searching for themes: This is an active process where themes are constructed by the researcher.
- **4)** Reviewing themes: The researcher reflects on the story the themes tell about the data, the nature of each team and how they interact with each other.
- **5)** Defining and naming themes: The researcher analyses each theme in detail and naming them with a concise and informative name.
- **6)** Writing up: This is the process of communicating the analysis to the reader and putting the finding in context with existing literature (Braun and Clarke, 2006).

4.6 Conclusion

The above chapter has provided an in-depth account of the methodological approach taken by the researcher both to collect and analyse data in this study. A qualitative approach was deemed the most appropriate given the nature of the study, and the data was collected through semi-structured interviews. A snowball sampling technique was used to source participants for the study, and while the ideal number of participants for this study was higher, five individuals were selected to take part. Limitations of the study were identified, with insider research, access to participants and the timeframe for the study among the biggest issues. Finally, a thematic analysis approach was used to analyse the data.

5. Research Findings

This chapter will present and discuss the data obtained throughout the semi-structured interviews conducted, using this information to explore the experiences of culturally diverse employees working in a Civil Service organisation and gain an understanding of their experience of D&I. The researcher, as a member of the D&I working group in the selected organisation, had previously met a small number of employees from diverse cultural backgrounds and contacted them with both a request to interview them for the study and to recommend any other potential participants which may be suitable. The researcher understood that culturally diverse employees were a small minority in this organisation and was interested in exploring their experiences in this regard.

Those interviewed did not consent to much demographic information being published in the study as they feared that they may be identifiable by process of elimination. The only description which was permitted is the grade of each participant. The researcher felt this was important to include to explore if there was a perception gap between those at lower grades versus those at more senior grades. A total of five interviews were conducted between the 4th and 14th of April 2023 on Microsoft Teams.

Interviewee	Grade
Participant 1	Executive Officer
Participant 2	Higher Executive Officer
Participant 3	Principal Officer
Participant 4	Executive Officer
Participant 5	Higher Executive Officer

Table 1: Grade Details of Interviewees

As shown in Table 1, the different levels of management are represented in those chosen for interview. Executive officer is a junior management grade, higher executive officer is middle management and principal officer is senior management.

5.1 Findings and Analysis

The guiding questions for the interviews were developed to explore some of the key topics which appeared across the literature review. Within these subject areas, five dominant themes emerged throughout the interviews conducted:

- 1. Culture as a socially constructed phenomenon
- 2. How diversity can drive creativity and innovation
- 3. The importance of senior leadership buy in for an inclusive workplace
- 4. The relationship between D&I initiatives and belonging of diverse employee
- 5. Negative perceptions of the recruitment process for culturally diverse applicants

5.1.1 Culture as a socially constructed phenomenon

Given that both culture and diversity have proven quite difficult to define across literature, it was the intention of the researcher to establish what the term cultural diversity meant to each participant from the onset of the interview. Overall, all interviewees had displayed a strong knowledge of the term diversity, with everybody agreeing that it involves bringing people together from multiple different backgrounds. A key theme emerged in relation to culture, as the understanding of the term varied from person to person and even was shown to change through time, supporting Hofstede's theory that culture is socially constructed (1991). Four individuals felt that culture was bigger than just nationality and ethnicity and refers to an overall structure of values, beliefs, and identity. One respondent related culture to multiple aspects of diversity, and states that it extends to:

"Older, younger...age, sex, and gender for example. It's multiple types of backgrounds, socio economic for example. Education. Everything" – Participant 2

Another participant echoes this and believes that culture refers to different backgrounds. However, they do accept that the assumption when talking about cultural diversity it is referring to people from different nationalities:

"Generally speaking, if you have cultural diversity, you'd be associating with those from minority groups. But it is more broadly assumed that you are talking about people from

While perceptions of culture vary across the group, there is also evidence to suggest that this can change over time, depending on the social situation of the individual. One participant admitted that their understanding of culture and what it means has changed. They first associated the term culture with things like art, literature, and music, as this was what was presented to them through non-academic books and mainstream media. This is in line with Hofstede's description of culture as "refinement of the mind" and that art and literature are the products of such refinement (1991). This shifted some time later to values and life principles and changed again when they studied business, and they studied different aspects of culture such as organisational culture. Their understanding of culture has also broadened, and they now believe it to mean the following:

"Culture simply means the way that we do things around here" – Participant 5

The researcher was not surprised to learn that understanding and perception of cultural diversity varied from case to case, as this is similar to how it was presented in literature across the years. It was interesting to learn that the knowledge and experience of culture can change, depending on the context that the individual finds themselves in. Culture does not appear to be a fixed concept and is instead one that can evolve and be redefined over time, constructed by the social environment of the individual.

5.1.2 The link between diversity and creativity and innovation

Heavy debates exist across diversity literature as to whether it has a positive or negative impact on organisation and team performance. Balancing perspectives on this, many would agree with Millikin and Martens (1996) description of diversity as a "double-edged sword". When discussing the benefits and challenges of diversity, all participants viewed diversity positively and outlined many associated benefits. One of the most common benefits identified was that diversity has the potential to develop a creative and innovative working environment for several reasons. Firstly, diverse groups can examine issues through multiple lenses when compared to homogenous groups.

Four participants felt that this was due to colleagues from diverse backgrounds bringing different experiences and knowledge which can help to bring an alternative perspective to issues:

"(Diversity) can benefit the organisation because of course there is people bringing different perspectives and diversity when starting a project. This can create creativity and innovation in the organisation" – Participant 1

"People from various cultural backgrounds are likely to come up with faster, with more and with better solutions to any set of given problems because each of them thinks differently to the other" Participant 5

In line with this, three participants also spoke about how the capacity for creativity and innovation can be further improved as colleagues from less diverse backgrounds can learn from their diverse peers:

"Learn other experiences. Expand think space. People from other countries can share their expertise and how they do things...which can help to improve processes" – Participant 2

One individual explored this on a larger scale, looking at how this relationship between diversity and enhanced creativity and innovation can have an impact on the citizen of Ireland. They spoke about how having employees who reflect the composition of the population can help find processes and solutions to better serve the whole population:

"I think the organisation needs to reflect the composition of the population that it needs to serve. And in order to serve that population, it needs to understand it. There is something about the lived experience that is really important" – Participant 3

Although all participants identified enhanced creativity and innovation as a benefit of diversity, Participant 3, a Principal Officer, was the only one to explore this beyond the organisation itself and relate this to improved service delivery to the citizen. This suggests that those at more junior grades look at creativity and innovation in relation to improving

the organisation, whereas the view from senior management may be of the bigger picture and realise the impact that enhanced creativity and innovation at team level can have on the service provided to the citizen.

Individuals did not come up with many challenges with diversity, with just one participant associating the use of appropriate language and the risk of offending somebody as a disadvantage. This contradicted the balance of the literature to date, presenting diversity as mostly positive and failing to identify many associated challenges.

5.1.3 The importance of senior leadership buy in for an inclusive workplace
The area of the interview where participants were the most positive was around the
performance of the organisation in relation to D&I. Individuals felt that there were visible
improvements in recent years in this area, and the organisation was progressing well,
particularly compared to their experience in other organisations within the Civil Service. A
prominent theme in this section of the interview was around the key role that senior leaders
play in developing an inclusive workplace. Despite positive views on organisation
performance in the area, some participants felt that senior leaders were not playing an
adequate role in D&I. Three out of five participants felt that they have not seen evidence
that D&I is a priority of senior leaders in the organisation:

"I'm over two years in the Department and I haven't seen any evidence to suggest that the higher ups are involved in any processes related to this. I have no idea if they are, but if this is the case, we should see more evidence and efforts from them" – Participant 4

Two participants mentioned that senior leadership involvement was not important during the development stage of the D&I working group and feel that the group being formed from the ground up may have been a positive thing, as it was something that was grown from the bottom up rather than imposed by management:

"This was not something that was imposed from the top and is building from the bottom. In this sense, it will have more impact as more people will get involved. It is a more gentle approach" – Participant 1

Despite this being identified as a positive now, there is an understanding that this can't continue for long for D&I to be embedded in the culture of the organisation. Two participants expressed doubts as to whether the D&I function will last and have a significant impact without senior leadership involvement. Participant 3 believes that change is needed soon, and D&I needs to be embedded in strategies across the organisation from the top down for any lasting change to be seen. Without this, there is a danger of losing focus once key individuals move on from the department:

"I would query how effective the longer it is a group. I wouldn't say it is a priority of senior leaders, but the group is a good steppingstone for this to happen. You don't often go from zero to embedded in the system without a few stepping-stones. There are phases, and this is a positive first phase, but it needs to move into a new phase soon and become embedded in the culture so that the focus does not leave with the people who started it" – Participant 3

In this sense, it is evident that, while D&I is viewed positively and the organisation is seen to be performing well in this area, there are ways in which it could be strengthened further through the involvement of senior leaders working to embed D&I into the culture of the organisation.

5.1.4 The relationship between D&I initiatives and belonging of diverse employees

One of the objectives of this study is to explore whether D&I initiatives contribute to the wellbeing of individuals from diverse backgrounds. The literature reviewed on this highlighted a connection between employee experience of inclusion and wellbeing. The researcher asked several questions to explore the perception of the recently introduced D&I initiatives from the perspective of those from culturally diverse backgrounds to understand if there is a relationship between D&I initiatives and wellbeing in this organisation. Two participants believed there to be a positive relationship between the two, particularly in the sense of the term belonging. Participant 1 spoke about previously feeling inadequate when compared to other employees due to English not being their first language, and felt they needed to hide the diverse part of their identity to fit in:

"You have to hide a part of yourself...and kind of feel that you are something less and that

your English is broken English compared to some of your colleagues" – Participant 5

They went on to say how this has improved with the introduction of D&I initiatives, as it makes them feel like their diversity is valued as they now have the opportunity to interact with people that are from similar backgrounds to them without having to hide any part of themselves. This improved sense of belonging was shared by participant 5, who felt that the initiatives gave them a chance to feel that they were a part of a group that has similarities to them and would recommend for others to get involved to experience this positive effect:

"It gave me an opportunity to be a part of a group that was also similar to me in more ways than one. I feel more included myself being a part of it. And I wish I could tell more people here; this Department has foreign nationals and new Irish and I wonder how many have doubts about getting involved. I would like to say, it's good for you and it's good for everybody" – Participant 5

While two other individuals felt positively in relation to D&I initiatives, they did not feel that they had an impact on their wellbeing as they always felt included in the department, regardless of their cultural identity. Participant 3 spoke about how they always felt welcome, and even represented Ireland on an EU committee, despite being a foreign national. However, they did acknowledge that the initiatives are positive for those new entrants to both the department and wider Civil Service as they help them learn that there are others from similar backgrounds:

"I think the last few years with the initiatives that you are saying, that has been really good for new people to see that there are lots of people who come from different countries. It can give people the sense of belonging and hope and opportunity" – Participant 3

Despite most individuals agreeing that these initiatives were positive and identifying the connection between D&I initiatives and belonging, one participant did not share this view. While they did say that it was nice to meet people through the events who were of similar backgrounds, they did not deem them necessary and were sceptical of why they were introduced in the organisation:

"I find it all funny. It's nice to go in and have a look around and talk to, let's say, Slavic cousins and other kind of nationalities like those. I don't feel like it is need to kind of be focused on this because let's say we have to fill some inappropriate kind of gaps, or somebody does. I don't take it as offensive, but I don't feel like it is a necessity" – Participant 4

This perception was evidently a minority among the group interviewed, and the initiatives were viewed positively by the others with clear links established between D&I initiatives, wellbeing and belonging. Within the group interviewed, two individuals suggested an improved sense of wellbeing as the initiatives organised provided them with the opportunity to get to know colleagues from similar backgrounds as themselves, whereas four out of five witnessed the benefits of D&I initiatives in the organisation through enhanced connection with those from similar backgrounds. This highlights that individuals felt a stronger sense of belonging with those from similar backgrounds to them, suggesting that inclusion initiatives can play a role in connecting people from similar backgrounds and enhancing the sense of belonging among these groups.

5.1.5 Negative perceptions of the recruitment process for culturally diverse applicants Recruitment appeared as a recurring issue across D&I literature and plays a key role in attracting and maintaining a diverse workforce. The researcher was keen to explore recruitment in the Civil Service and understand the experiences that culturally diverse colleagues had with the process, and whether there was a need for this process to change to become more accessible for colleagues from diverse backgrounds.

Firstly, all participants did not speak very positively about recruitment competitions held through PAS, whether this be the process they went through entering the Civil Service or a competition for promotion later on. One individual likened the experience to torture:

"The actual process, the steps, the hooks, it was horrendous. I mean, that's the only way to describe it. It's like torture" - Participant 3

Despite the reported difficult process, just one participant reported encountering a difficulty with this which could be associated with their diverse background:

"I had difficulties with the language throughout the application process and sought help with this from my line manager" – Participant 2.

The rest of the interviewees instead described the multiple stages of recruitment and the duration of time involved as being their main problem with the process. They had no issues with the language used throughout, and felt that it was instead important for candidates to be tested on their command of the English language before being appointed as having a good degree of English is important when working in the Civil Service:

"If you are going to join the Civil Service, your English needs to be really good. If you are going to be out there signing off on things and speaking on behalf of your department, it's okay to have accents but you need to be in command" – Participant 3

While negative perceptions of the recruitment process were not commonly associated with participant's diversity, four out of five felt that there were actions which could be taken to improve it. Three participants felt that there was inadequate communication from PAS about recruitment competitions. They felt that there was often a mixed understanding from people coming into the country about the barriers to joining the Civil Service, with people often assuming it is difficult to access:

"To make it better, maybe just try to get the message down that it is not impossible to get in" – Participant 4

"They have a job to. Raise awareness to the whole population – there is a place for you...And I think it is not known like that anybody can apply through PAS...you don't have to be an Irish citizen and you don't have to speak Irish" – Participant 3

In addition to communication, two individuals also identified ways that the testing process could improve to become more accessible to those from diverse backgrounds. Participant 4

suggested removing situational judgement testing, as those from different cultures could potentially react different to Irish people, putting them at a disadvantage:

"In different cultures you could react differently on the job to something like that. So basically, you get a lot less points than let's say an Irish person that is more in tune with these little nuances. It basically puts that person in the back of the line" – Participant 4

Participant 5 discussed amending the testing so that it is not used to eliminate candidates automatically and could instead be utilised as a shortlisting tool. They feel that PAS are "foregoing lots of talent" as often the abilities of people differ, and one person who is naturally good with numbers may struggle in other areas:

"Some people are naturally inclined with numbers and others with thoughts put in a different way. And each of these groups have to struggle preparing for the other side and people might slip through the gaps. Not many of them will come back the second or third time" – Participant 5

It is evident that, while overall the participant's did not have a positive experience with recruitment in the Civil Service, most of the reported issues were not directly related to their background. However, they did feel that there were ways in which the process could improve, particularly through improved communication to reach diverse groups and clarify misconceptions and restructuring the testing process so that diverse candidates are not disadvantaged or slipping through the cracks.

6. Discussion

The previous chapter presented the findings from the research process, discussing the information gathered throughout the interview process and identifying key themes in relation to the experience of the culturally diverse employees interviewed. It is now important to position this research in the context of the wider literature, understanding the findings in relation to the research objectives and both where it complements past studies and contradicts them.

The first objective was to assess the understanding of cultural diversity from those interviewed. While diversity has proven to be difficult to define across past literature, the participants of this study shared a common understanding of what the term meant and agreed that it involves people coming together from various backgrounds. This is similar to many definitions which exist, particularly Fleury (1999) who defines diversity as a mix of individuals with different group identities within the same social system. In relation to culture, this meant something different to each person, but reflected Hofstede's definition (1991) that it is a collective phenomenon that differentiates one group from another. Hofstede's assertion that culture is socially constructed was also supported, as one individual discussed how their knowledge and understanding of culture changed over time, reinforcing the theory presented by Hofstede that it is learned through the social situation of an individual. Overall, the understanding displayed by the participants of cultural diversity was reflective of that in past studies reviewed by the researcher, and no new definitions or understandings were present.

Next, the researcher wished to explore what the participants considered to be the benefits and challenges of diversity in an organisation. While previous studies presented both advantages and disadvantages to diversity, echoing Milliken and Martens' description of it as a "double-edged sword" (1996), this study was treated to a more positive opinion of diversity instead. All participants supported the value in diversity hypothesis (McLeod 1991) and were able to discuss multiple benefits of diversity which were reflective of the past literature on the subject. Creativity and innovation were identified, alongside the benefit to the individual of learning from the experiences of diverse peers, reinforcing findings of previous studies (Bell et al. 2011, Stahl et al. 2010). However, this study did not discover many challenges associated with diversity as participants struggled to identify

disadvantages. Just one individual spoke about sensitivity and the risk associated with using the wrong terminology, but overall, there was an imbalance with higher perceived benefits to diversity than challenges. While it is not clear to the researcher why this may be the case, it may be due to the study being conducted in 2023 as the perception of diversity grows more positive over time. As discussed in the literature review chapter, there is evidence to suggest that negative assumptions about diversity are decreasing steadily throughout time (Stahl and Tung 2015).

Given the growing importance the Civil Service is placing on D&I, this research also set out to explore this in practice in an individual organisation through the experiences of colleagues from culturally diverse backgrounds. Are central policies and strategies being implemented at organisational level effectively? Overall, it was felt that the organisation in this study is performing well in relation to D&I and participants appeared to have a positive experience working here. The organisation was viewed as diverse by all, particularly in relation to other areas of the Civil Service, although overall opinion on D&I varied within the group. This indicates that, while colleagues are having a positive experience in relation to D&I in this organisation, this may not be the case in other areas of the Civil Service. Varying experiences of this in the Civil Service suggests that D&I policies are perhaps not being implemented effectively in a consistent way, and success varies from department to department.

Although the experience of D&I was positive by all interviewed, there is a recognition that the role of senior leaders needs to improve. This somewhat aligns with theories presented by Martens (2020) on the role of senior leaders in D&I. He believes that for the benefits of diversity to be seen in organisation, senior leaders must create a vision for diversity and actively participate in the initiatives and actions which arise from this. However, in contrast to Martens, participants of this study did not place importance on senior leaders being the ones to create this vision and were content that D&I was being developed from the ground up. They instead believed that senior leaders had to become involved in this at some point, as opposed to creating it in the first place.

As this study focuses primarily on the individual and their experiences, the researcher next chose to investigate if there is a visible connection between the inclusion initiatives implemented and their wellbeing. Within the group interviewed, two out of five observed improvements to their wellbeing because of D&I initiatives in the organisation. This was

primarily due to them experiencing an improved sense of belonging as the initiatives organised provided them with the opportunity to get to know colleagues from similar backgrounds as themselves. This is in line with the social categorisation theory, as previously discussed, which explains that people categorise those similar to them as "us", creating an in/out group where those in the in-group are considered trustworthy and dependable (Williams and O'Reilly, 1998). Individuals in this study felt a stronger sense of belonging with their "in- group" i.e., people from similar backgrounds to them, which they were introduced to through inclusion initiatives. This establishes that the initiatives played a role in connecting people from similar backgrounds and enhancing the sense of belonging among these groups.

The final part of the study focuses on the experience of the individuals with the recruitment process in the Civil Service. PAS, the central recruitment body for the Civil Service, are developing their recruitment and selection processes to attract and welcome candidates from diverse backgrounds. They recognise that a public service which has the contribution of those from all sectors of society will better serve the population (PAS, 2021). While all participants did not report a positive experience in the recruitment process, there was little evidence to relate this to their background. However, this was just in relation to their personal experience, as individuals were able to identify areas which may be disadvantageous for diverse applicants, such as the testing phase of the application or inadequate communication. The ED&I Strategy, published by PAS in 2021, sets out to reform recruitment and appears to address some of the issues identified by those interviewed. Some initiatives set out in this strategy include a targeted programme to engage with relevant bodies to further reach diverse candidates, as well as the launch of a new ED&I focused social media and electronic campaign (PAS, 2021). This highlights that the Civil Service, through PAS, are working to address areas of recruitment which may limit diversity in the sector. However, all participants of this study went through the recruitment process before the development of this strategy, so they have not experienced any of the changes introduced.

6.1 Recommendations

Overall, through the findings and analysis presented, it is evident that the experience of D&I in the chosen organisation was positive from those interviewed. However, there are areas

which the organisation could focus on to enhance this experience further and improve on their D&I function.

Firstly, there should be a focus on improving senior leadership involvement in the area of D&I. This is something which could be addressed straight away and was an area in which participants felt the organisation was performing poorly, and which was essential for the embedding of D&I in the workplace. Martens (2020) sets out a number of ways this could be achieved and argues that senior leaders can become more involved through attending D&I events, support minorities in public and avoid inaction on issues. In this organisation, senior leaders could become more involved in the recently established working group and visibly enhance their support for the function to ensure that it is embedded in the culture going forward. This would be a shared responsibility, where they work together to ensure that at least one senior leader supports each initiative, as available time for senior management is often limited.

Although there was just one challenge identified in relation to diversity, it is one which could easily be addressed. One participant spoke about the challenge around terminology and language, and how saying the wrong thing can unintentionally offend somebody. Diversity training could be a useful tool to help prevent this, and typically involves raising awareness and developing knowledge of various aspects of diversity (Alhejji and Garavan, 2013). In this case, training could be organised to enhance knowledge of the language around diversity and improve employee understanding of this. However, the development of such training can often take time and has high associated costs. Developing such training centrally and rolling out within a year across the whole Civil Service, would be the most resource efficient method.

A final area which could be actioned relates to the wider Civil Service and the recruitment process. Although some issues appear to have since been identified by PAS, such as communication, there is still scope to improve the process further in relation to the testing section. Two participants of the study mentioned how this area can prove to be a disadvantage for those from diverse cultural backgrounds, as different cultures may interpret information differently. Suggestions for how this could be improved include using testing as a shortlisting tool and eliminating situational testing completely. As PAS have outlined their intention to implement "recruitment and selection processes that encourage and enable access to candidates from diverse backgrounds" (2021), it is key that the testing

section of the process is adjusted to deliver on this strategic objective. However, adjusting the testing process and no longer having it as an elimination tool would mean that recruiters would have a higher volume of applications at the point of shortlisting. This would put pressure on those involved in the recruitment process and PAS would have to plan for this accordingly, perhaps seeking additional resources from the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform (DPER) or rearranging existing resources to account for this change.

7. Conclusion

This research aimed to explore the experiences of culturally diverse employees in a Civil Service organisation to gain an understanding of how well central policy and strategy on D&I is being implemented within the Civil Service. The data was obtained from one diversity group in one Civil Service organisation. Culturally diverse employees were selected here as they are a small minority in this organisation and appear to be a small minority in the wider Civil Service also (PAS, 2023). The researcher believed their perspective would bring more value than a diverse group which comprised a higher population of employees.

Throughout the literature reviewed, it was clear that diversity brings both benefits and challenges to an organisation. Through the experiences of those interviewed, a positive perception of diversity was presented, with the group detailing many associated benefits but failing to identify many challenges. The benefits were in line with that presented in the literature to date, such as creativity and innovation, but their perspectives diverged from this as the diversity as a "double-edged sword" theory was contradicted (Milliken and Martens, 1996).

In relation to the organisation's performance of D&I, the Civil Service Equality of Opportunity Policy sets out that each department is responsible for implementing such policy within their organisation (DOF, 2002). This poses the risk that the standard of implementation will vary from organisation to organisation. This study has shown that employees perceive their organisation to be performing well in terms of D&I, establishing links between organised initiatives and their sense of belonging, but have outlined that their experience has not always been this way in previous Civil Service organisations that they have worked in. This suggests that, while the organisation in this study is implementing such policies well, this standard may vary across the wider Civil Service.

Recruitment was identified throughout the literature reviewed as a key process in D&I. This study has found that there are areas in which recruitment for the Civil Service fall short and may act as a barrier to the attraction of candidates from diverse backgrounds. This relates to communications around the recruitment process, with a lack of clarity identified around entry requirements such as Irish language competency and citizenship. Issues around testing were also communicated, with concerns about the fairness of the testing process for diverse candidates noted.

7.1 Limitations

The most concerning limitation of this study for the researcher was the sample size. While some research indicated that five interviews would be sufficient (Saunders at al, 2019), it was felt that, in this study, 6-8 would be ideal to identify gain a more in depth understanding of the experiences of culturally diverse employees in the organisation. While the researcher was aware from an early stage that sample access may be an issue, whether it be due to the availability of participants or their willingness to take part, the value of conducting the research in an organisation where cultural diversity was minimal was deemed a priority over a larger volume of participants. If this study was to be repeated, the researcher would look into conducting it in a different Civil Service organisation with a similar diversity profile, where their membership on the D&I working group would not be an active barrier to participation.

Secondly, choosing one aspect of diversity may be too narrow of a focus to gain an overall perception of D&I in the chosen organisation. It is possible that some diversity groups may have a different experience, particularly in terms of inclusion and belonging. To have a full picture of how D&I is performing in the organisation, the experiences of employees from different diverse backgrounds, such as LGBTQ and people with disabilities, would have to have been explored.

The final limitation which the researcher views as key is the time at which those interviewed went through the recruitment process in the Civil Service. PAS published their EDI Strategy in 2021, with clear actions to improve the recruitment process for candidates from diverse backgrounds. Everybody interviewed does not have experience of Civil Service recruitment since this strategy was published, so this study cannot explore how effective any of the initiatives have been. To do so, individuals from culturally diverse backgrounds who have experience in some nature of this recruitment would have had to be included in the study.

7.2 Recommendations for Future Research

One of the central aims of this study was to explore how effectively Civil Services D&I policies and strategies were being implemented in an individual organisation. There is scope to extend this to other Civil Service organisations to gain a broader understanding of

whether the policies and strategies are being implemented effectively across the board, and not just in one organisation. The data collected could be used by PAS or other Civil Service bodies to shape future strategies, drawing on employee experiences and insight. Similarly, within the organisation studied, there is opportunity to interview employees from other diverse backgrounds, such as LGBTQ and those with disabilities. The present study, through focusing on just one diversity group, can induce that there is a positive experience of culturally diverse colleagues in relation to D&I in the organisation, but accepts that this experience may differ across those from other diverse backgrounds. Finally, the researcher would recommend that research is conducted which compares the experience of recruitment with diverse employees pre 2021 and after. This would allow for a comparative analysis of their experiences since the introduction of reforms to recruitment. Although, waiting for a number of years for any changes to become embedded would be advised. Overall, conducting similar research on a broader scale through the experiences of diverse employees in the Civil Service, could provide valuable data to help assess the effectiveness of existing policies and strategies and help to shape those of the future.

References

Abu Bakar, R., Jayasingam, S., Che Hashim, R., and Omar, S. (2018) *A Meaningful Life at Work: The Paradox of Wellbeing.* Bingley: Emerald Publishing Limited. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=6be9dd9c-39c7-3265-93e4-70aed7d2371f (Accessed: 29 March 2023).

Adler, N. J. (2002) *International Dimensions of Organizational Behaviour*. Montreal: Thomson Learning

Alhejji, H., & Garavan, Thomas. (2013) "A Review of Diversity Training Programmes in Organisations: Context, Design and Outcomes", in *UFHRD Conference*, Brighton, June 2013, ResearchGate. Available at: (PDF) A Review of Diversity Training Programmes in Organisations: Context, Design and Outcomes (researchgate.net) (Accessed 04/04/2023)

Barnham, C. (2015) "Quantitative and Qualitative Research: Perceptual Foundations", *International Journal of Market Research*, 57(6), pp. 837-854. Available at: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.2501/IJMR-2015-070 (Accessed 6/12/2022).

Bell, S.T., Villado, A.J., Lukasik, M.A., Belau, L., and Briggs, A.L. (2011) "Getting specific about demographic diversity variable and team performance relationships: a meta-analysis" *Journal of Management*, 37(3) pp709–743. Available at: file:///C:/Users/kennyf/Downloads/download%20(2).pdf (Accessed 27/03/2023)

Bishop-Monroe, R., Wingender, J.R. and Shimerda, T.A. (2021) 'Chief diversity officers measure diversity: Does your diversity strategy measure up?', *Organizational Dynamics*, 50(4). Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0090261620300516? (Accessed 29/03/2023)

Blakemore, E. (2019) 'Race and Ethnicity, Explained', *National Geographic*. Available at: <u>Race and ethnicity, explained | National Geographic</u> (Accessed 21/03/2023)

Carter, S. and Henderson, L., (2005) "Approaches to qualitative data collection in social science". *Handbook of health research methods: Investigation, measurement and analysis*, 1, pp.215-230. Available at: <u>Approaches to Qualitative Data Collection | Request PDF (researchgate.net)</u> (Accessed 05/04/2023)

Chowdhury, M. (2014) "Interpretivism in Aiding Our Understanding of the Contemporary Social World", *Open Journal of Philosophy*, 04, pp. 432-438. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272878388 Interpretivism in Aiding Our Und

erstanding of the Contemporary Social World/citation/download (Accessed 05/04/2023)

CIPD (2019) *Building Inclusive Workplaces*. Available at: <u>Building inclusive workplaces | CIPD</u> (Accessed 29/03/2023)

CIPD (2021) *Inclusion and Diversity in the Workplace*. Available at: https://www.cipd.ie/news-resources/practical-guidance/factsheets/diversity-inclusion#gref (Accessed 16/03/2023).

CIPD (2018) *Diversity and Inclusion at Work: Facing up to the Business Case.* Available at: diversity-and-inclusion-at-work 2018-summary tcm21-44150.pdf (Accessed 28/03/2023).

CIPD (2022) A Guide to Inclusive Recruitment for Employers. Available at: https://www.cipd.ie/lmages/inclusive-recruitment-employers-guide-tcm21-112787.pdf (Accessed 28/03/2023)

Cox, T., and Blake, S. (1991) "Managing cultural diversity: implications for organizational competitiveness." *The Executive*, 5, pp. 45-56. Available at: [PDF] Managing cultural diversity: implications for organizational competitiveness | Semantic Scholar (Accessed 19/04/2023)

CSO (2023) *Census of Population 2016 – Profile 7 Migration and Diversity.* Available at: <u>All non-Irish nationals in Ireland - CSO - Central Statistics Office</u> (Accessed 12/04/2023).

CSO (2023) *Population and Migration Estimates April 2022.* Available at: https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-pme/populationandmigrationestimatesapril2022/ (Accessed 21/03/2023)

Department of Finance (2002) *Diversity in the Civil Service: A Policy on Equality of Opportunity.* Available at: <u>Diversity in the Civil Service - A Policy on Equality of Opportunity - 8ca3651b76a14cbeb7b31ed1381d21c3.pdf (www.gov.ie)</u> (Accessed 02/04/2023)

DeJonckheere, M. and Vaughn, L. M., (2019) "Semi-structured Interviewing in Primary Care Research: A Balance of Relationship and Rigour" *Family Medicine and Community Health* 7(57) Available at: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Semistructured-interviewing-in-primary-care-a-of-DeJonckheere-vaughn/08229bb7c40447fd7e6fbfe956f0b782a2b613b9 (Accessed 6/12/2022).

Donaghy, M., & Perales, F. (2022) "Workplace wellbeing among LGBTQ+ Australians: Exploring diversity within diversity", *Journal of Sociology*, 0(0). Available at: tities. (Accessed 9/12/2022).

Forscher, P., Lai, C.K., Axt, J.R., Ebersole, C.R., Herman, M., Devine, P., and Nosek, B. (2019) "A Meta-Analysis of Procedures to Change Implicit Measures". *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 117(3), pp. 522-559. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/308926636 A Meta-Analysis of Procedures to Change Implicit Measures (Accessed 28/03/2023)

Fleury, M.T.L. (1999) "The management of culture diversity: lessons from Brazilian companies", *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 99(3), pp. 109-14. Available at: <u>The management of culture diversity: lessons from Brazilian companies | Emerald Insight</u> (Accessed 20/03/2023)

Fugard, A., and Potts, H. (2015) "Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: a quantitative tool", *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18(6), pp. 669-684. Available at: Full article: Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: a quantitative tool (tandfonline.com) (Accessed 08/04/2023)

Gardenswartz, L., and Rowe, A. (2009) "The Effective Management of Cultural Diversity." Pp. 35-44 Available at: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/The-Effective-Management-of-Cultural-Diversity-Gardenswartz-Rowe/90eaa66610a5e093d99083dda9e6a39c416b1534 (Accessed 27/03/2023)

Gino, F., and Coffman, K. (2021) 'Unconscious Bias Training That Works', *Harvard Business Review*, 99(5), pp. 114–123. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=e6ef2554-887b-3cbb-ae2f-d0f01f774ac4 (Accessed: 28 March 2023).

Granow, M., and Asbrock, F. (2021) 'A framework for culturally diverse teams and the importance of agility: findings from a qualitative study', *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 51(1), pp. 47–68. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/c/x47ol5/details/2gk4ussmbv?q=cultural%20diversity%20qualitative (Accessed 17/04/2023)

Goertzen, M.J. (2017) 'Chapter 3: Introduction to Quantitative Research and Data', *Library Technology Reports*, 53(4), pp. 12–18. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=899e9f38-8961-3f14-aac7-e0132c6dcd2b (Accessed: 4 April 2023).

Greene, M.J., (2014) "On the inside looking in: Methodological insights and challenges in conducting qualitative insider research". *The qualitative report*, *19*(29), pp.1-13. Available at: On the Inside Looking In: Methodological Insights and Challenges in Conducting Qualitative Insider Research (researchgate.net) (Accessed 05/04/2023)

Haile, G. (2012) "Unhappy working with men? Workplace gender diversity and job-related well-being in Britain" *Labour Economics*, 19(3), pp. 329-350. Available at: <u>Towards well-being: role of diversity and nature of work | Emerald Insight</u> (Accessed 29/03/2023)

Hewitt-Taylor, J. (2002) "Inside knowledge: Issues in insider research", *Nursing Standard* (through 2013), 16(46), p.33. Available at: <u>Inside knowledge: issues in insider research</u> (researchgate.net) (Accessed 09/04/2023)

Hofstede, G.H. (1991) "Cultures and organizations: software of the mind" McGraw-Hill. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=871cd94a-d2b1-370d-afe7-9257344e1b6d (Accessed: 20 March 2023).

Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission (2023) *The Employment Equality Acts 1998-2015 – A Summary*. Available at: <u>The Employment Equality Acts 1998-2015 – A Summary - IHREC - Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission</u> (Accessed 12/04/2023).

Jackson, S. E., & Joshi, A. (2011) "Work team diversity", *APA handbook of industrial and organizational psychology, 1,* pp. 651–686. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/232501002 Work team diversity (Accessed 27/03/2023)

Jaiswal, A., & Dyaram, L. (2019) "Towards Well-being: Role of Diversity and Nature of Work", *Employee Relations, 41* (1), pp. 158–175. Available at: https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/ER-11-2017-0279/full/html (Accessed 8/12/2022).

Junjie, M. and Yingxin, M. (2022) 'The Discussions of Positivism and Interpretivism', *Online Submission*, 4(1), pp. 10–14. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=a572d8de-3a41-39de-afaa-98d9f5a55b0d (Accessed: 5 April 2023).

Kalev, A., Dobbin, F., and Kelly, E. (2006) "Best Practices or Best Guesses? Assessing the Efficacy of Corporate Affirmative Action and Diversity Policies", *American Sociological Review*, 71(4), pp. 589–617. Available at:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/000312240607100404 (Accessed 28/03/2023)

Keene, B.M. (2023) 'Belongingness (sense of belonging)', *Salem Press Encyclopedia* [Preprint]. Available at:

https://discovery.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=dcd9f9cf-9563-38f3-b42b-8087b89d2cf3 (Accessed: 29 March 2023).

Killam, L., 2013. *Research terminology simplified: Paradigms, axiology, ontology, epistemology and methodology.* Laura Killam Publisher.

Kim, J.Y. and Roberson, L. (2022) 'I'm biased and so are you. What should organizations do? A review of organizational implicit-bias training programs', *Consulting Psychology Journal*, 74(1), pp. 19–39. Available at:

https://discovery.ebsco.com/c/x47ol5/viewer/html/o7uewoscuf (Accessed 28/03/2023)

Köppel, P., Yan, J., & Lüdicke, J. (2007). Cultural Diversity Management in Deutschland hinkt hinterher. Germany: Bertelsmann Stiftung

Lai, Y. and Kleiner, B.H. (2001) "How to conduct diversity training effectively", *Equal Opportunities International*, Vol. 20 No. 5/6/7, pp. 14-18. Available at: <u>How to conduct diversity training effectively | Emerald Insight</u> (Accessed 30/03/2023)

Maran, D.A., and Soro, G. (2010) "The Influence of Organizational Culture in Women Participation and Inclusion in Voluntary Organizations in Italy", *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 21(4), pp. 481–496. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=7da8d543-ca1d-3fe8-8515-da3553c1cfc3 (Accessed: 21/03/2023).

Martins, L. L. (2020) "Strategic Diversity Leadership: The Role of Senior Leaders in Delivering the Diversity Dividend. Journal of Management", 46(7), pp. 1191–1204. Available at: Strategic Diversity Leadership: The Role of Senior Leaders in Delivering the Diversity Dividend - Luis L. Martins, 2020 (sagepub.com) (Accessed 01/04/2023)

McGinnity, F., Grotti, R., Russell, H., and Fahey, E. (2017) 'Attitudes to Diversity in Ireland', *The Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission*. Available at: https://www.ihrec.ie/app/uploads/2018/03/Attitudes-to-diversity-in-Ireland.pdf (Accessed 21/03/2023)

McGinnity, F., Quinn, E., McCullough, E., Enright, S., and Curristan, S. (2021) 'Measures to combat racial discrimination and promote diversity in the labour market: a review of evidence', ESRI. Available at: MEASURES TO COMBAT RACIAL DISCRIMINATION AND PROMOTE DIVERSITY IN THE LABOUR MARKET: A REVIEW OF EVIDENCE (esri.ie) (Accessed 21/03/2023)

McKay, P.F. and Avery, D.R. (2005) 'Warning! Diversity Recruitment Could Backfire', *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 14(4), pp. 330–336. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/c/x47ol5/viewer/pdf/3vq2geez7j (Accessed 28/03/2023)

McKinsey (2020) *Diversity Wins: How Inclusion Matters.* Available at: <u>How diversity, equity, and inclusion (DE&I) matter | McKinsey</u> (Accessed 29/03/2023)

McLeod, P.L., and Lobel, S.L. (1992) "The effects of ethnic diversity on idea generation in small groups", *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 1, pp. 227-331. Available at: <u>THE EFFECTS OF ETHNIC DIVERSITY ON IDEA GENERATION IN SMALL GROUPS. | Semantic Scholar</u> (Accessed 27/03/2023).

McLeod, P. L., Lobel, S. A., and Cox, T. H. (1996) "Ethnic Diversity and Creativity in Small Groups", *Small Group Research*, 27(2), 248–264. Available at: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1046496496272003 (Accessed 07/12/2022).

McClintock, D., Ison, R., and Armsong, R. (2003) "Metaphors for Reflecting on Research Practice: Researching with People", *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 46(5), pp. 715-731. Available at: Metaphors for Reflecting on Research Practice: Researching with People | Request PDF (researchgate.net) (Accessed 05/04/2023)

Meyer, I. H. (2003) "Prejudice, Social Stress, and Mental Health in Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Populations: Conceptual Issues and Research Evidence, *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(5), pp. 674–697.

Available at: https://psycnet.apa.org/doiLanding?doi=10.1037%2F0033-2909.129.5.674 (Accessed 10/12/2022)

Milliken, F. J., and Martins, L.L. (1996) "Searching for Common Threads: Understanding the Multiple Effects of Diversity in Organizational Groups." *Academy of Management Review*, 21, pp. 402-433.

Available at: <u>Searching for Common Threads: Understanding the Multiple Effects of Diversity in Organizational Groups (upenn.edu)</u> (Accessed 27/03/2023)

Moore, J. (2010) "Philosophy of Science, with Special Consideration Given to Behaviorism as the Philosophy of the Science of Behavior", *The Psychological Record*, 60(1), pp. 137-150. Available at: Philosophy of science, with special consideration given to behaviorism as the philosophy of the science of behavior. (apa.org) (Accessed 04/04/2023)

Mor-Barak, M.E. (2022) *Managing diversity: toward a globally inclusive workplace*. Fifth Edition Sage: USA.

Mor Barak, E.M., Lisano, E.L., Kim, A., and Duan, L. (2016) "The Promise of Diversity Management for Climate of Inclusion: A State-of-the-Art Review and Meta-Analysis", Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 40:4, pp. 305-333, Available at: (PDF) The Promise of Diversity Management for Climate of Inclusion: A State-of-the-Art Review and Meta-Analysis (researchgate.net) (Accessed 07/12/2022)

Mwita, K.M. (2022) "Factors to consider when choosing data collection methods", *International Journal of Research in Business & Social Science*, 11(5), pp. 532–538. Available at:

https://discovery.ebsco.com/c/x47ol5/details/wl6mtdrbfz?q=data%20collection%20method <u>s</u> (Accessed 05/04/2023)

Neuman, W.L. (2014) *Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches.* 7th Edition. Pearson Education Limited: Essex.

Patton, M.Q. (2002) *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Third Edition. Thousand Oaks: Sage.

Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz S. M., Green C. A., Wisdom J. P., Duan N., and Hoagwood K. (2015) "Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis in Mixed Method Implementation Research", *Adm Policy Ment Health* 42(5), pp. 533-44. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4012002/ (Accessed 06/04/2023)

Pelled, L. H. (1996) "Relational demography and perceptions of group conflict and performance: A field investigation", *International Journal of Conflict Management, 7*(3), pp. 230–246. Available at: Relational demography and perceptions of group conflict and performance: A field investigation. (apa.org) (Accessed 07/04/2023)

Pilbeam, S., and Corbridge, M. (2010) *People Resourcing and Talent Management: HRM in Practice*. 4 th edition. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited.

Price, J.H., and Murnan J. (2004) "Research limitations and the necessity of reporting them", American journal of health education, 35(2), p. 66-67. Available at: Research Limitations and the Necessity of Reporting Them: American Journal of Health Education: Vol 35, No 2 (tandfonline.com) (Accessed 08/04/2023)

Public Appointments Service (2021) *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy*. Available at: PASED&IStrategy2021-2023.pdf (publicjobs.ie) (Accessed 26/11/2022)

Public Appointments Service (2023) *Equality Monitoring Data Review*. Available at: equalitymonitoringdatareview.pdf (publicjobs.ie) (Accessed 19/04/2023)

Roberson, L., Kulik, C. T., & Tan, R. Y. (2013) "Effective diversity training", *The Oxford handbook of diversity and work*, pp. 341–365). Oxford University Press. Available at: <a href="https://example.com/effective-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effective-diversity-training.com/effective-diversity-training.com/effective-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-training.com/effeti-diversity-trainin

Robertson, I. and Cooper, C. (2010) "Full engagement: the integration of employee engagement and psychological well-being" *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 31(4), pp.324-336. Available at: https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/01437731011043348/full/html (Accessed 08/12/2022)

Ross, P.T. and Bibler Zaidi, N.L. (2019) "Limited by our limitations", *Perspectives on medical education*, 8, pp.261-264. Available at: <u>Limited by our limitations - PubMed (nih.gov)</u> (Accessed 15/04/2023)

Samuel, A., and Odor, H. (2018) "Managing Diversity at Work: Key to Organisational Survival" *European Journal of International Management*. 10(16), pp.41-46, Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326082988 Managing Diversity at Work Key to Organisational Survival (Accessed 27/03/2023)

Shore, L.M., Randel, A.E., Chung, B.G., Dean, A., Ehrhart, K., and Singh, G. (2011) "Inclusion and Diversity in Work Groups: A Review and Model for Future Research", *Journal of Management*, 37(4), pp. 1262-1289. Available at: Inclusion and Diversity in Work Groups: A Review and Model for Future Research (sagepub.com) (Accessed 29/03/2023)

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., and Thornhill, A. (2019) *Research methods for business students*. 6th Edition UK: Pearson education.

Seidman, I. (2006) *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social science*. Third Edition. New York: Teachers College Press.

Seymen, O.A., (2006) "The cultural diversity phenomenon in organisations and different approaches for effective cultural diversity management: a literary review." *Cross Cultural Management: An International Journal*, 13, pp.296-315. Available at: https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&mbSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&mbSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13527600610713404/full/html?mgobileUi=0&fullSc=1&fullSc=1">https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/fullSc=1

Singh, Y.K., (2006) Fundamental of research methodology and statistics. New Delhi: New Age International.

Slepian, M. L., and Jacoby-Senghor, D. S. (2021) "Identity Threats in Everyday Life: Distinguishing Belonging From Inclusion", *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 12(3), pp. 392–406. Available at: <u>Identity threats in everyday life: Distinguishing belonging from inclusion</u>. (apa.org) (Accessed 31/03/2023)

Stahl, G.K., and Maznevski, M.L. (2010) "Unravelling the effects of cultural diversity in teams: a meta-analysis of research on multicultural work groups", *Journal of International Business Studies*, 41 (4) pp 690–709. Available at: https://www.proquest.com/docview/2484437259?accountid=103381 (Accessed 27/03/2023)

Stahl, G.K., and Tung, R.L. (2015) "Towards a more balanced treatment of culture in international business studies: The need for positive cross-cultural scholarship", *Journal of International Business Studies*, 46(4), pp. 391-414. Available at: https://www.proquest.com/docview/1674918245?accountid=103381 (Accessed 17/04/2023).

Suveren, Y. (2022) "Unconscious Bias: Definition and Significance", *Current Approaches in Psychiatry*, 14(3), pp. 414–426. Available at:

https://discovery.ebsco.com/c/x47ol5/details/t4ezqynafj?limiters=FT1%3AY%2CRV%3AY&q =unconcious%20bias (Accessed 28/03/2023)

Theofanidis, D. and Fountouki, A. (2018) "Limitations and delimitations in the research process", *Perioperative Nursing-Quarterly scientific*, 7(3), pp.155-163. Available at: Microsoft Word - PN SEP 73 155 162.docx (spnj.gr) (Accessed 03/04/2023)

Thomas, D., & Ely, R. (1996) "Making differences matter: A new paradigm for managing diversity", *Harvard Business Review*, 74(5), pp. 79-90. Available at: <u>Managing diversity using a strategic planned change approach | Emerald Insight</u> (Accessed 19/03/2023)

Bonner, A., Tolhurst G., (2002) "Insider-outsider perspectives of participant observation". *Nurse Researcher*, 9(4), pp. 7-19. Available at: (PDF) Insider-outsider perspectives of participant observation (researchgate.net) (Accessed 29/04/2023)

Triana, M., García, M. F., & Colella, A. (2010) "Managing diversity: How organizational efforts to support diversity moderate the effects of perceived racial discrimination on affective commitment", *Personnel Psychology*, 63(4), pp. 817–843. Available at: Managing diversity: How organizational efforts to support diversity moderate the effects of perceived racial discrimination on affective commitment. (apa.org) (Accessed 29/03/2023)

Trompenaars, F. and Hampden-Turner, C. (2022) *Riding the Waves of Culture'*, 4th Edition, pp. 1–6. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=3cc75d05-89a7-38d7-a439-b37baaec6db5 (Accessed: 20 March 2023)

Turner, J. H. (1992) "Positivism. In Encyclopaedia of sociology", Vol. 3, edited by E. and M. Borgatta, pp. 1509–1512. New York: Macmillan.

Turner, D. et al. (2021) 'Applying Qualitative Approach in Business Research', Asian Journal of Business Research, 11(3), p. 1.

Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/c/x47ol5/viewer/pdf/m4ifno7wqv (Accessed 11/12/2022)

Velten, L., and Lashley, C. (2018) "The meaning of cultural diversity among staff as it pertains to employee motivation", *Research in Hospitality Management*, 7:2, pp 105-113. Available at: (PDF) The meaning of cultural diversity among staff as it pertains to employee motivation (researchgate.net) (Accessed 10/04/2023)

Volckmann, R. (2012) "Integral Leadership and Diversity—Definitions, Distinctions and Implications", *Integral Leadership Review*, 12(3), pp. 1–21. Available at: https://discovery.ebsco.com/c/x47ol5/viewer/pf/o3r3vtfv2b (Accessed 16/03/2023)

Wang, J., Cheng, G., Tingting, C., and Leung, K. (2019) "Team Creativity/Innovation in Culturally Diverse Teams: A Meta-Analysis", *Journal of Organizational Behavior*. 40. Pp. 693-

708. Available at: <u>(PDF) Team Creativity/Innovation in Culturally Diverse Teams: A Meta-Analysis (researchgate.net)</u> (Accessed 25/03/2023)

Willig, C. (2013). Introducing Qualitative Research in Psychology. 3rd ed. UK: McGrawHill Education.

Workplace Relations Commission (2023) *Employment Equality*. Available at: <u>Employment Equality</u> - <u>Workplace Relations Commission</u> (Accessed 12/04/2023)

World Health Organisation (2022) *Health and Wellbeing*. Available at: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/major-themes/health-and-well-being#:~:text=The%20WHO%20constitution%20states%3A%20%22Health,of%20mental%20disorders%20or%20disabilities (Accessed 06/12/2022)

Appendix A: Information Booklet

Project Title:

Exploring the experiences of culturally diverse employees of diversity and inclusion in a Civil Service organisation

I would like to invite you to take part in a research study. Before you decide you need to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Ask questions if anything you read is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not to take part.

Who I am and what this study is about

My name is Fauve Kenny, and I am a part-time student in Human Resource Management at the National College of Ireland. I am conducting a research study for my dissertation which aims to explore the experience of employees from diverse backgrounds of diversity and inclusion in the Civil Service. The aim is to examine the perception of diversity and inclusion initiatives from individuals from multicultural backgrounds and explore the connection between diversity, inclusion, and employee wellbeing. The information obtained in this study will be analysed as a part of the final dissertation for a Master of Arts (MA) in Human Resource Management.

What will taking part involve?

Participation will involve a short semi-structured interview where the participant will be asked a number of questions exploring their understanding of diversity and inclusion and their experience in both their own organisation and wider Civil Service. The interview should take no more than 30 minutes to complete.

Why have you been invited to take part?

The aim is to conduct this research among a sample of people from diverse cultural backgrounds working in the Civil Service. Therefore, invitations have been sent to colleagues meeting the criteria in the hope that they will share their experience and participate in the study.

Do you have to take part?

Participation is completely voluntary, and participants have the right to refuse participation, refuse any question and withdraw from the study at any time without any consequence whatsoever.

What are the possible risks and benefits of taking part?

The Civil Service is not often associated with having a culturally diverse workforce, and this study will add to a growing number of studies which aim to delve deeper into diversity in this context. While the risks in participating are limited, it is important that participants are fully comfortable in discussing their personal experiences and recognise that the interview process can be paused or ceased completely if the individual feels they would rather not continue.

Will taking part be confidential?

Care will be taken to ensure that questions asked in interviews do not request any information which has the potential to identify any participant. All interview transcripts will be anonymised, using numbers to differentiate between each participant instead of names. Non-anonymised data in the form of signed consent forms and audio recordings are collected as a part of the

research process but will be retained by the interviewer and school and will not feature in the final study. If the researcher has strong belief that there is a serious risk of harm or danger to either the participant or another individual (e.g., physical, emotional, or sexual abuse, concerns for child protection, rape, self-harm, suicidal intent or criminal activity) or if a serious crime has been committed, confidentiality may have to be broken to inform the relevant authorities.

How will information you provide be recorded, stored and protected?

The interview will be recorded via an audio recording device and stored in a password protected folder on the private laptop of the researcher and deleted once transcribed. Signed consent forms will be kept in the same location. Signed consent forms will be retained in this folder until after the degree has been conferred. A transcript of interviews in which all identifying information has been removed will be retained for a further two years after this. Under freedom of information legalisation, you are entitled to access the information you have provided at any time.

What will happen to the results of the study?

The results of this study will be submitted as a part of the final dissertation for a Master's in Human Resource Management. There are no plans to progress this study any further, or for it to be published.

Who should you contact for more information?

Fauve Kenny National College of Ireland

Appendix B: Consent Form

Exploring the experiences of employees from culturally diverse backgrounds in a Civil Service organisation

Consent to take part in research
21voluntarily agree to participate in this research study.
② I understand that even if I agree to participate now, I can withdraw at any time or refuse to answer any question without any consequences of any kind.
② I understand that I can withdraw permission to use data from my interview within two weeks after the interview, in which case the material will be deleted.
② I have had the purpose and nature of the study explained to me in writing and I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study.
② I understand that participation involves a short semi-structured private interview where I will be asked a variety of questions around diversity, inclusion and wellbeing.
② I understand that I will not benefit directly from participating in this research.
② I agree to my interview being audio-recorded.
② I understand that all information I provide for this study will be treated confidentially.
② I understand that in any report on the results of this research my identity will remain anonymous. This will be done by changing my name and disguising any details of my interview which may reveal my identity or the identity of people I speak about.
② I understand that disguised extracts from my interview may be quoted in the final dissertation of the researcher.

② I understand that if I inform the researcher that myself or someone else is at risk of harm they may have to report this to the relevant authorities - they will discuss this with me first but may be required to report with or without my permission.

② I understand that signed consent forms and original audio recordings will be retained in a password protected folder which only the researcher can access until dissertation results are confirmed by the exam board.

② I understand that a transcript of my interview in which all identifying information has been removed will be retained for two years from the date of the exam board.

② I understand that under freedom of information legislation I am entitled to access the information I have provided at any time while it is in storage as specified above.

② I understand that I am free to contact any of the people involved in the research to seek further clarification and information.

Fauve Kenny National College of Ireland
Signature of research participant
Signature of participant Date:
I believe the participant is giving informed consent to participate in this study
Signature of researcher
Signature of researcher Date:

Appendix C: Guiding Questions for Interviews

(Transcripts available upon request)

Question List for Interviews

- 1. What does the term "Cultural diversity in the workplace" mean to you?
- 2. Would you consider your organisation to be "Culturally diverse"? If so, how?
- 3. In what ways do you think cultural diversity might be important in the workplace?
- 4. What does the term "inclusion" mean to you?
- 5. Do you feel that inclusion is a priority of senior leaders in your organisation?
- 6. Do you feel that Diversity and Inclusion initiatives are viewed positively overall in your organisation?
- 7. Do you feel there are any issues associated with such diversity and inclusion?
- 8. Do you think that since these initiatives have been introduced in the organisation, they have had an impact on your wellbeing at work?
- 9. Do you feel that culture is sufficiently represented on the agenda for diversity and inclusion in your organisation?
- 10. How did you find the recruitment process when entering the Civil Service?
- 11. Can you suggest any ways in which the recruitment process for the Civil Service could be modified so that it is more accessible to applicants from diverse cultural backgrounds?
- 12. Is there anything you would like to add on the subject?

CIPD Reflection Statement

Over the course of the research and writing of this dissertation, there are any things that I have learned from and perhaps would have done differently.

Firstly, I selected the earlier submission option with a view that the time would be sufficient. Looking back, I would have changed this and opted for the August submission date instead. I felt that the turnaround time was quite fast between receiving feedback from the proposal and final submission and this prevented me from delivering the highest quality of work that I know that I am capable of.

Secondly, I would have perhaps done things differently around selecting a topic. I struggled with this and went back and forward a lot when deciding on a research area. I should have decided earlier as this limited my time further.

Despite knowing that there are areas I could have done differently to improve the dissertation, I am still proud of the body of work that I submitted. I feel that this is an important subject area and deserves a lot of attention in the modern day, and I hope that I did it justice.